I. Identity of Petitioner. 

The Petitioner is MARISA BA V AND (hereinafter "Ms. Bavand"), who 

was the Plaintiff in the original action under Snohomish County Superior Court 

Case No. 12~2-07395-1 and the Appellant in Court of Appeals, Division I, Case 

No. 71724-3-1. 

II. Court of Appeals Decision. 

Ms. Bavand seeks review of the unpublished decision of the Court of 

Appeals filed July 20, 2015 (hereinafter "subject decision"), a copy of which is 

attached hereto in the Appendix at Appendix "A ". 

III. Issues Presented for Review. 

A. Whether the subject decision to disregard the proof of ownership 

requirement in RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) conflicts with this Court's anticipated 

decision in its review of Trujillo v. NWTS, 181 Wn.App. 484, 502, 326 P .3d 768 

(2014), review granted, 182 Wn.2d 1020 (2015) (hereinafter "Trujillo") and 

conflicts with this Court's precedents requiring that statutes be interpreted to 

avoid rendering language superfluous and to hannonize their provisions, and 

that the Deed of Trust Act (RCW 61.24, et seq.) (hereinafter "DTA") be strictly 

construed in favor of the borrower, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

B. Whether the subject decision detennining the Declarations of 

Lisa Mahony and Karie Mullen: (1) are admissible in evidence for the purposes 

of CR 56(e) and RCW 5.45, et seq., and/or (2) if so, are sufficient to establish 

the identity of the owner and actual holder of the subject obligation when the 

declarations characterize the nature of documents not attached contrary to this 
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Court's decision in State v. Fricks, 91 Wn.2d 391, 397, 588 P.2d 1328 (1979) 

(hereinafter "Fricks"), thus meriting review under RAP 1 3.4(b)(l). 

C. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court was based 

upon sufficient proof of Respondents' agency relationship with Fannie Mae to 

establish their status as "holders" of the obligation to initiate and prosecute a 

non-judicial foreclosure under the DT A. 

D. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court's striking 

of the Declaration of Tim Stephenson is contrary to existing law, thus meriting 

review under RAP 13.4(b)(J). 

E. Whether the subject decision affirming the trial court's denial of 

Ms. Bavand's request for additional discovery to challenge the Respondents' 

motions for summary judgment is contrary to this Court's precedent, thus 

meriting review under RAP 1 3.4(b)(4). 

F. Whether the subject decision holding that substantial evidence 

of a violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, et seq.) 

(hereinafter "CPA") does not exist despite the fact that: (1) the foreclosing 

trustee relied on a Deed of Trust in which the initial trustee was patently 

unqualified and the beneficiary was ineligible; (2) relied on an undated 

endorsement by a servicer that was inconsistent with the servicer's claim of 

status, either as owner, holder, servicer or investor; (3) ignored the competing 

claims by various entitieG aa "beneficiury"; failing to verify the ownership of the 

obligation; (4) and, relied on improperly dated and notarized documents and 

multiple assignments of Ms. Bavand's Note and Deed of Trust that in at least 
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one instance the successor trustee executed, without seeking the express 

authority from the true and lawful owner and holder of the obligation; is 

contrary to the DT A and the Supreme Court precedent noted in Issue A, above, 

and Lyons v. U.S. Bank, 181 Wn. 2d 775, 336 P.3d 1142 (2014) (hereinafter 

"Lyons"), thus meriting review of this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(J). 

G. Whether the subject decision holding Respondents could not 

violate the Washington Criminal Profiteering Act (RCW 9A.82, et seq.) as a 

matter of law because Respondents' actions consisted of "servicing the loan" 

and "sending notices" without proof of authority of the true and lawful owner 

and actual holder of the obligation is contrary to Supreme Court precedent and 

the DTA, thus meriting review ofthis Court under RAP 13.4(b)(J). 

H. Whether any or all of the issues set forth above are of substantial 

public interest, thus meriting review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

IV. Statement of the Case. 

On March 18, 2004, Ms. Bavand executed a Promissory Note in favor 

of Capital Mortgage Corporation, as lender and the party entitled to receive 

payments according to its terms. CP 1853-1856. This transaction was 

purportedly registered with Respondent, MORTAGE ELECTRONIC 

REGISTRATION SYSTEMS, INC. (hereinafter "MERS") by Capital Mortgage 

Corporation under MIN No. 100052599985865654. Various versions of this 

Note were offered during discovery. CP 1502-1505. Tht: purported 

endorsements on several versions of the Note were never authenticated and the 

original Note was never produced for verification. 
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To secure repayment of the Note, Ms. Bavand executed a Deed of Trust, 

dated March 24,2004. CP 1858-1875. "Joan H. Anderson, EVP" on behalf of 

Flagstar, was named the trustee. Upon information and belief, "Joan H. 

Anderson, EVP" is not an individual qualified to act as trustee under RCW 

61.24.010. 

At no time relevant to this cause of action did Ms. Bavand owe any 

monetary or other obligation to MERS, nor has MERS ever been an owner or 

holder of the subject Promissory Note or other evidence of debt executed 

contemporaneously with the subject Deed of Trust, as the term "beneficiary" is 

defmed under RCW 61.24.005(2). While Ms. Bavand acknowledges that she 

may owe money under the subject Note to someone, she does not owe money or 

any other obligation to any Respondent named herein. 

On February 1, 2011, Chris Ashcraft, an employee of Respondent, 

NORTHWEST TRUSTEE SERVICES, INC (hereinafter "NWTS"), executed 

and recorded an Assignment of Deed of Trust "for value received", assigning all 

beneficial interest under the Deed of Trust from "lender" to Respondent, 

CHASE HOME FINANCE, LLC. (hereinafter "Chase Finance"). CP 1885. 

The identity of the "lender" or Note holder granting this authority was not 

specified. No evidence of any grant of authority by the true and lawful owner 

and holder of the obligation for this Assignment has been adduced. 

On February l, 2011, Ken Patner, us Assistant Vice President ofNWTS 

pursuant to the authority vested by a Limited Power of Attorney from Chase 

Finance, executed and recorded an Appointment of Successor Trustee 
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appointing his own company, NWTS, the successor trustee. CP 1891. No 

evidence of any grant of authority by the true and lawful owner and holder of 

the obligation for this Appointment has been adduced. 

On February I, 2011, NWTS, claiming authority as the "duly authorized 

agent" for Chase Finance, issued a Notice of Default that represented that the 

"Beneficiary (Note Owner)" of the deed of trust was Chase Finance. CP 1887-

1889. This Notice of Default is problematic for several reasons. First, the 

Notice of Default deceptively and deliberately confused the "beneficiary" with 

the "note owner" and the "note holder", as the terms are defined under the DT A. 

Specifically, the Notice of Default identifies the "beneficiary (Note Owner)" as 

"Chase Home Finance LLC." NWTS knew or should have known that "Chase 

Home Finance LLC" was not the true and lawful owner or holder of the subject 

Note and Deed of Trust on February 1, 2011. Second, the Notice of Default 

does not identify the "note holder", as the term is defined in the DTA. Third, 

the Notice of Default fails to include any "Beneficiary Declaration" upon which 

it might rely to establish its authority to conunence a non-judicial foreclosure as 

required under the DT A. Fourth, by identifying itself as an agent of the 

"beneficiary", Chase Finance, NWTS breached its fiduciary duty of good faith 

and neutrality to both parties to the transaction, in violation of RCW 61.24.010. 

On April 1, 2011, Ms. Bavand prepared and mailed a Qualified Written 

Request to JPMorgan Chase Bank NA, the alleged servicer of the subject loan 

obligation. CP 1878-1881. At no time relevant to this cause of action has 

JPMorgan Chase Bank NA, or any Respondent named herein, responded to Ms. 
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Bavand's Qualified Written Request, for which Ms. Bavand ts entitled to 

statutory damages. 

On December 21, 2011, lviERS executed a second Corporate 

Assignment of Deed of Trust "for good and valuable consideration'', this time in 

favor of JP Morgan Chase. CP 996; 1437. At this point in time, lviERS had 

nothing to assign, in view of the Assignment of February 1, 2011 to Chase 

Finance. 

On April 18, 20 12, apparently on the basis of the Assignment of Deed 

of Trust of December 21, 2011, Payne Davis, as Vice President of JP Morgan 

Chase, executed a second Appointment of Successor Trustee, again appointing 

NWTS as a successor trustee. CP 1433. 

On May 8, 2012, Winston Kahn, as Assistant Vice President at NWTS 

executed and recorded a Notice of Trustee's Sale, setting a sale date for August 

10, 2012, and a Notice of Foreclosure, pursuant to RCW 61.24.040. CP 1441-

1446. The Notice of Trustee's Sale was dated effective May 2, 2012, but not 

notarized until May 8. 2012. No evidence of any grant of authority by the true 

and lawful owner and holder of the obligation for this Notice of Trustee's Sale 

and Notice of Foreclosure has been adduced, in violation of the DT A and in 

violation ofNWTS's duty of good faith, under RCW 61.24.010. Moreover, the 

Notice of Foreclosure that was prepared by NWTS materially deviates from the 

statutory form proscribed by RCW 61.24.040(2). 

Frustrated by the lack of response to her Qualified Written Request, Ms. 

Bavand researched her loan on the internet. From a printed copy of 
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Respondent, FEDERAL NATIONAL MORTGAGE ASSOCIATION's 

(hereinafter "Fannie Mae") web loan lookup page, dated August 13, 2012, Ms. 

Bavand learned that Fannie Mae owned her mortgage loan, obtaining the same 

on or about Aprill, 2004. CP 1893. This information materially contradicted 

the information provided by NWTS in its Notice of Default and Notice of 

Trustee's Sale and raised questions concerning the propriety of the various 

documents prepared by NWTS and its compliance with its duty of good faith to 

Ms. Bavand. 

On August 20, 2012, Ms. Bavand brought suit against the Respondents 

for violation of the DT A, seeking damages and declaratory relief, violation of 

the Washington Consumer Protection Act (RCW 19.86, et seq.) (hereinafter 

''CPA"), violation of RCW 9A.82, et seq., and reserving claims for violation of 

RESPA and FDCPA. CP 1836-1975. 

In January of2014, Respondents moved for summary judgment on all of 

Ms. Bavand's claims, pursuant to CR 56. CP 1515-1531, 1604-1623, 1624-

1706. 

On March 26, 2014, the trial court granted Respondents' motions for 

summary judgment. CP 52-56. At the same time the trial court entered an 

Order striking the Declaration of Tim Stephenson. CP 57-59. This appeal 

followed. 
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V. Argument and Authority. 

A. Review should be granted to determine the validity of the 
Court of Appeals' holding that the foreclosing trustee need not have 
proof ownership of the note before recording a notice of trustee's 
sale as required under RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). 

The issue of the trustee's possession of proof of ownership of the Note 

herein is the same as the issue that is precisely the subject of review in Tnijillo, 

which has been argued but not decided as of this writing. The decision of the 

Court of Appeals relies on Trojillo in two respects: (1) it claims that Ms. 

Bavand's evidentiary challenges to the Declarations of Lisa Mahony and Karie 

Mullen are immaterial insofar as they create material issues of fact as to the 

ownership of Ms. Bavand's Note; and (2) discounts the duty of the foreclosing 

trustee to act in good faith to determine whether the claimed beneficiary is the 

owner of the Note as well as the holder; with authority to foreclose. See Lyons. 

The Court of Appeal's decision raises an issue of public importance as 

to whether all provisions of the DTA, specifically RCW 61.24.030(7)(a)/should 

be so construed and interpreted so as to avoid rendering the language of the 

statutes superfluous and to harmonize their provisions for the benefit of all 

borrowers in the State of Washington. Gilbert H Moen Co. v. Island Steel 

RCW 61.24.030(7)(a) and (b) provides as follows: 

(a) That, for residential real property, before the notice of trustee's sale is recorded, 
transmitted, or served, the trustee shall have proof that the beneficiary is the owner of any 
promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust. A declaration by the 
beneficiary made under penalties of perjury stating that the beneficiary is the actual holder of 
the promissory note or other obligation secured by the deed of trust shall be sufficient proof 
as required under this subsection. 

(b) Unless the trustee has violated his or her duty [of good faith] under RCW 
61.24.010(4), the trustee is entitled to rely on the beneficiary's declaration as evidence of 
proof required Wlder the subsection. (Emphasis added) 
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Erectors, Inc., 128 Wn.2d 745, 762, 912 P.2d 472 (1996); In re Detention of 

C. W., 147 Wn.2d 259, 272, 53 P.3d 979 (2002); State v. Johnson, 179 Wn.2d 

534, 546-547, 315 P.3d 1090 (2014). 

Since review of Trnjillo has been accepted and the case argued, the 

remedy here may be remand to the Court of Appeals for reconsideration in light 

of the anticipated opinion by this Court, depending upon the outcome for the 

same reasons articulated by Ms. Trujillo; or it may be simply to grant review in 

total insofar as the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the Trnjillo opinion 

on review, pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(l); or it may raise an issue of substantial 

public importance on another issue that should be resolved by this Court and 

review should be granted pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

B. Review should be granted to determine whether hearsay 
narrative statements may be admitted under the Business Records 
Act (RCW 5.45.020) contrary to CR 56(e). 

On summary judgment, the trial court relied on "facts" alleged the 

Declarations of Lisa Mahony and Karie Mullen, to which Ms. Bavand took 

timely objection. CP 1498-1507; 1552-1603. The issue squarely presented for 

review is whether CR 56(e) 's requirement that swnmary judgment declarations 

must be on personal knowledge can be circumvented by a narrative declaration 

characterizing "business records", rather than laying a proper foundation with 

the production of the records relied upon into evidence. 

Ms. Mahony offered the trial court only her conclusory state-1nent that 

she had "personal knowledge" and that she had reviewed the "records regularly 

kept by Flagstar," including those of JPMorgan Chase. For her part, all Ms. 
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Mullen said about her basis of knowledge is that she was "familiar with the 

manner in which Chase maintains its books and records, including its computer 

records relating to the servicing of this loan," including records from Capital 

Mortgage Corporation, Flagstar, Fannie Mae, MERS and NWTS. But neither 

provided the trial court either the documents reviewed or facts that would 

establish the reliability of the information provided. See RCW 5.45.020; State v. 

Smith, 16 Wn.App. 425, 558 P.2d 265 (1976) and State v Kane, 23 Wn.App. 

107, 594 P.2d 1357 (1979). Under CR 56(e), conclusory statements or "mere 

averment" that the affiant has personal knowledge are insufficient to support a 

motion for summary judgment. Blomster v. Nordstrom, Inc., supra.; Editorial 

Commentary to CR 56 (citing Antonio v. Barnes, 464 F2d 584, 585 4th Cir. 

1972. 

Many of the records reviewed and relied upon by Ms. Mahony and Ms. 

Muller were necessarily prepared, compiled and maintained by third parties. 

Such third-party records must be separately authenticated by the third party who 

compiled the records to meet the business records exception to the hearsay rule 

and ineet the requirement that such testimony be based on personal knowledge 

from the third party's records custodian to satisfy each of the elements of RCW 

5.45.020. State v. Weeks, 70 Wn.2d 951, 953, 425 P.2d 885 (1967); MRC 

Receivables Corp. v. Zion, 152 Wn. App. 625, 631 & n. 9, 218 P.3d 621 (2009). 

For example, Ms. Mullen attests: 

2. I am familiar with the manner in which Chase maintains 
its bookS and records, including its computer records relating to the 
servicing of this loan. It is Chase's routine business practice to make 
records at or near the time of the occurrence . . . . I have personal 
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knowledge of the matters set forth herein based upon my review of the 
records relating to the loan at issue in this matter .... 

* * * 

5. According to our records, Fannie Mae became the 
investor of the obligation on April 8, 2004, was the investor when 
servicing of the loan was transferred to Chase in October 2004, and is 
the current investor ... _ 

*** 

6. Bavand is past due on her obligation under the Note 
from September 1, 2010. Thereafter, Chase initiated nonjudicial 
foreclosure proceedings ..... (CP 1553-1554) 

However, Ms. Mullen did not offer the documents that lead her to the 

conclusions she reached. Such narrative statements in the Declarations of Ms. 

Mahony and Ms. Mullen were not offered to authenticate any business records, 

but were offered to set forth their hearsay version of events acquired from some 

source other than their personal knowledge. 

This is a serious but not uncommon departure in these kinds of cases2 

from Supreme Court precedent, justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). Fricks 

is on point. There the state attempted to prove the amount of money stolen from 

a gas station based on the manager's testimony regarding the contents of a tally 

sheet kept by employees, but not offered into evidence. This Court held, at page 

391, as follows: 

In seeking to prove the contents of the tally sheet, the State must comply 
with the so-called Best evidence Rule. TPis basic principle of evidence 
generally requires that "the best possible evidence be produced." Larson 
v. A.W Larson Constr. Co., 36 Wn.2d 271, 217 P.2d 789 (1950) As 
applied to proof of the terms of a writing, it requires that the original 
writing be produced unless it can be shown to be unavailable "for some 

See McDonald v. OneWest, 929 F. Supp. 2d 1079, 1090-1091 (2013). 
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reason other than the serious fault of the proponent." McCormick, 
Handbook of the Law of Evidence Sec.230, at 560 (2d Ed. 1972). See 
also Larson v. A. W. Larson Constru. Co., supra. In this case the State 
failed to produce the document or to make any showing of its 
unavailability. Under these circumstances the testimony of the manager 
as to its contents was not an acceptable method ofproof 

Even production of the tally sheet would not necessarily make its 
contents admissible as evidence, however. The tally sheet is itself 
hearsay which must be shown to be admissible, in this case under the 
Uniform Business Records as Evidence Act, RCW 5.45. Appropriate 
testimony must establish its identity and mode of preparation in order to 
lay a foundation for admission. See RCW 5.45.020 

The rolling narrative hearsay from Ms. Mahony and Ms. Mullen was the 

sole basis upon which the trial court concluded that Ms. Bavand was in default 

and that Chase was the holder of the obligation and had the right to initiate non-

judicial foreclosure proceedings against Ms. Bavand and appoint NWTS as 

successor trustee, despite Fannie Mae's apparent ownership of the obligation. 

But Ms. Mahony's and Ms. Mullen's testimony was rank hearsay and the 

subject decision affirming this testimony contradicts an opinion of this Court, 

justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(l) and, given the number of wrongful 

foreclosure cases before the courts of this state in which similar testimony is 

offered by the mortgage lending industry, is of substantial public importance 

justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

C. Review of the subject decision should be granted because the 
opinion permitted an aUeged agent (holder) to establish its agency 
by an employee's declaration rather than the words and actions of 
its alleged principal, contrary to this Court's precedent, justifying 
review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

No Respondent named herein, except Fannie Mae, has ever represented 

themselves to be the owner of the subject obligation, but claim, for purposes of 
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this foreclosure, that they are merely a "holder'' ofMs. Bavand's Note, acting as 

an agent for Fannie Mae. But the only basis for any alleged agency relationship 

between Respondents and Fannie Mae comes from the Declaration of Ms. 

Mahony, as an employee ofFlagstar (CP 1498-1500) and the Declaration ofMs. 

Mullen, as an employee of JPMorgan Chase (CP 1552-1603). No sworn 

statement was ever offered during the course of litigation from Fannie Mae 

acknowledging: (1) the existence of any agency relationship with Respondents; 

or (2) the scope of Respondents' agency relationship, if any, with Fannie Mae. 

Precedent of this Court and other divisions of the Court of Appeals 

clearly holds that an agency relationship can only be established through the 

words and acts of the principal, not the alleged agent. Auwarter v. Kroll, 89 

Wash. 347, 351, 154 Pac 438 (1916) ("the rule is universal that the declarations 

of a supposed agent are inadmissible to prove the fact of agency."); Lamb v. 

General Associates, Inc., 60 Wn.2d 623, 627, 374 P.2d 677 (1962); Equico 

Lessors Inc. v. Tow, 34 Wn.App. 333, 338, 661 P.2d 600 (1983); Smith v. 

Hansen, Hansen & Johnson, 63 Wn.App. 355, 366-368, 818 P.2d 1127 (1991). 

The question of how one proves his or her status as "holder" of an 

obligation under the DT A is fundamental to the non-judicial foreclosure process 

where the owner acts through agents to initiate and prosecute the foreclosure. 

This issue recurs in almost every wrongful foreclosure case and is a matter of 

substantial public interest. Moreover, the Court of Appeals affirmed the efforls 

of purported foreclosing agents without the proper proof of agency which 
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clearly contradicts prior precedent of this Court. Therefore, review is merited 

under RAP 13.4(b)(l), (2) and (4). 

D. Review should be granted to determine whether the 
Declaration of Tim Stephenson was properly stricken. 

The trial court should not have stricken the testimony of Tim 

Stephenson (CP 1368-1386), which directly contradicted the testimony of Ms. 

Mahony and Ms. Mullen as to Respondents' status as owners or holders of the 

subject Note. His testimony was clearly permissible under ER 702. ER 703 and 

ER 704. 

Generally, a trial court has wide discretion in its consideration of expert 

testimony. Miller v. Likins, 109 Wn.App. 140, 34 P.3d 835 (2001). But this 

discretion should be "exercised liberally in favor of admitting evidence" that 

would assist the Court in evaluating the issues before it. State v. Hansen, 46 

Wn.App. 656, 731 P.2d 1140 (1987). See also Davis v. Baugh Industrial 

Contractors, Inc., 159 W.2d 413,420-421, 150 P.3d 545 (2007). 

The subject decision affirming the trial court's striking Mr. 

Stephenson's Declaration was contrary to existing law of this Court and merits 

review under RAP 13.4(b)(l). 

E. Review should be granted to determine whether Ms. 
Bavand's request for additional discovery under CR 56(/) was 
justified. 

The hearsay problem created by the submission of and the trial court's 

reliance on the Declarations of Ms. Mahony and Ms. Mullen, noted above, was 

exacerbated by t.l-te affirmation of the trial court's refusal to permit additional 

discovery, pursuant to CR 56(/). There is no way to anticipate what might be 
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offered in a declaration before it is filed and served. A challenge to the 

admissibility of a declaration based upon the declarant's competency to attest to 

its contents and its cure is categorically different than a plea to conduct 

discovery that has been neglected or has been frustrated and should not require a 

separate motion and declaration justifying a delay to obtain new evidence. 

Indeed, the incompetence of the declarations themselves should be sufficient to 

warrant a continuance to cure the deficiencies, without the need for a separate 

motion and declaration outlining the testimony sought. In this case the 

testimony of Tim Stephenson should have been enough. 

The subject decision affirming the trial court's denial of an opportunity 

to test the testimony of Ms. Mahony and Ms. Mullen, given the number of 

wrongful foreclosure cases before the courts of this state in which similar 

testimony is offered by the mortgage lending industry, is of substantial public 

importance justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)( 4). 

F. Review of the subject decision's holding that substantial 
evidence of a CPA violation does not exist given the foreclosing 
trustee's conduct herein is justified. 

Once again, the Court of Appeals' handling of Ms. Bavand's CPA 

claims is a direct consequence of its reliance on Trujillo. Specifically, ignoring 

the plain terms of RCW 61.24.030(7)(a). the Court of Appeals held that mere 

possession of Ms. Bavand's Note, endorsed in blank, is enough to establish 

Chase as the "beneficiar;" of the obligation with the right to foreclose. This 

holding ignored Fannie Mae's purported ownership of the Note and the absence 

of any grant of authority for Chase to act on behalf of Fannie Mae. Indeed, 
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there was no evidence of an agency relationship between Chase and Fannie Mae 

was ever provided. 

Moreover, by embracing Trujillo, the Court of Appeals discounted the 

foreclosing trustee's duty of good faith to Ms. Bavand to assure that the 

"beneficiary" is the owner as well as the holder of the obligation before serving 

and recording its Notice of Trustee's Sale. RCW 61.24.010(4); RCW 

61.24.030(7)(a): Lyons. Specifically, it was Ms. Bavand's contention on appeal 

that by relying on a Deed of Trust in which the trustee was patently unqualified 

and the beneficiary was ineligible, relying on an undated endorsement by 

Flagstar that was inconsistent with its claim of status, either as owner, holder, 

servicer or investor, ignoring the competing claims of JP Morgan Chase and 

Chase Finance to status as "beneficiary" on the face of contradictory beneficiary 

declarations, failing to verify the ownership of the obligation, relying on 

improperly dated and notarized documents and multiple assignments of 

Plaintiff's Note and Deed of Trust that in at least one instance, NWI'S executed, 

without seeking the express authority from the true and lawful owner and holder 

of the obligation, NWTS breached the "fiduciary duty of good faith" by 

attempting to prosecute a non-judicial foreclosure on Respondents' behalf 

without strictly complying with all requisites of sale.3 Based on Trujillo, the 

Court of Appeals ignored these concerns, despite this Court's ruling in Lyons 

that held that foreclosing trustees, such as N\VI'S, have an affirmative duty to 

'"adequately infonn' itself regarding the purported beneficiary's right to 
---··-··-· --------

Under Klem v. Washington Mutual Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771, 790, 295 P.3d 1179 
(2013) (hereinafter "K/em"), this Court has held that trustees such as NWTS have a fiduciary 
duty to act in good faith. 
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foreclose." Lyons, at page 787. Moreover, the Court of Appeals ignored Ms. 

Bavand's damages, based on Panag v. Farmers Ins. Co. Of Washington, 166 

Wn.2d 27, 204 P.3d 885 (2009), Frias v. Asset Foreclosure Services, Inc., 181 

Wn.2d 412, 334 P.3d 529 (2014) and Lyons. Thus, the subject decision 

affirming the trial court's dismissal of Ms. Bavand's wrongful foreclosure and 

CPA claims was contrary to existing law of this Court and merits review under 

RAP 13.4(b)(l).

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