**RECEIVED** SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Sep 18, 2015, 10:47 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

Supreme Court No. 92135-1

Court of Appeals No. 71724-3-I

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MARISA BAVAND,

Appellant,

VS.

CHASE HOME FINANCE LLC, et al.,

Respondents.

### ANSWER OF RESPONDENT FLAGSTAR BANK FSB TO APPELLANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Submitted By: Fred B. Burnside, WSBA No. 32491 DAVIS WRIGHT TREMAINE LLP 1201 Third Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101-3045 (206) 622-3150



##

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

Review is appropriate in only four narrowly prescribed circumstances. RAP 13.4(b). The Washington Supreme Court accepts a

petition for review only if: (1) the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) the decision conflicts with another appellate decision; (3) the case involves a significant question of constitutional law; or (4) the decision involves "an issue of substantial public interest." *Id.* 

The Court should not accept review under RAP 13.4(b). The issues here are narrow, discrete, and specific to the facts of this particular matter and covered by established case law.

# A. This Court Does Not Need to Review the Court of Appeals' Treatment of Certain Evidentiary Rulings.

## 1. The Declaration of Lisa Mahony was Correctly Allowed into Evidence.

Ms. Bavand contends that the Declaration of Lisa Mahony and its supporting documents should not have been allowed into evidence and considered by the trial court because Ms. Mahony's "mere averment" of personal knowledge of how Flagstar's records are kept fails to satisfy the business records statute, RCW 5.45.020. Pet. at 9-12. Ms. Bavand argues that while Ms. Mahony claims to have personal knowledge of all the facts contained within her declaration as well as familiarity with Flagstar's record-keeping practices, Ms. Mahony's testimony is "rank hearsay" because no evidence was submitted indicating how the records she refers to were prepared, compiled, or maintained. *Id.* at 10.

The Court of Appeals did not abuse its discretion in affirming the trial court's decision to admit the Mahony Declaration; and this decision

does not conflict with any decision of the Supreme Court. As a result, this Court should deny review of this issue.

CR 56(e) requires competent declarants with personal knowledge:

Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matters stated therein. Sworn or certified copies of all papers or parts thereof referred to in an affidavit shall be attached thereto or served therewith.

Thus, under CR 56(e), affidavits have three substantive requirements: (i) they must be made on personal knowledge, (ii) be admissible in evidence, and (iii) show affirmatively that the declarant is competent to testify to the information contained in the declaration. CR 56(e). The requirement of personal knowledge might require someone who signed or witnessed the signing of a document to establish its authenticity. Nevertheless, Washington courts consider the requisite of personal knowledge to be satisfied if the proponent of the evidence satisfies the business records statute. Discover Bank v. Bridges, 154 Wn. App. 722 (2010); Am. Express Centurion Bank v. Stratman, 172 Wn. App. 667, 674-75 (2012) (rejecting challenge to bank employee declaration, holding that affiant's personal knowledge of how records are kept generally was sufficient for business records exception). Indeed, the identical argument made by the same counsel for Plaintiff here, was recently rejected on this same basis. See Barkley v. Greenpoint Mortg. Funding, Inc., --- Wn. App. ---, 2015 WL 4730175, \*3-\*4 (Aug. 10, 2015), publication req. granted Sep. 11, 2015.

Washington's business records statute, RCW 5.45.020, states:

A record of an act, condition or event, shall in so far as relevant, be competent evidence if the custodian or other qualified witness testifies to its identity and the mode of its preparation, and if it was made in the regular course of business, at or near the time of the act, condition or event, and if, in the opinion of the court, the sources of information, method and time of preparation were such as to justify its admission.

In support of her argument that Ms. Mohony's testimony was inadmissible hearsay, Ms. Bavand's cites *State v. Fricks*, 91 Wn.2d 391 (1979). Pet. at 11. In *Fricks*, this Court determined that a gas station manager's testimony concerning the contents of a tally sheet of receipts kept by gas station employees was inadmissible hearsay where the tally sheet itself was not produced, and the manager's testimony was the only proof offered as to the contents of the tally sheet. *Fricks*, 91 Wn.2d at 397. Under these circumstances, the Supreme Court determined that the testimony of the manager as to the contents of the tally sheet was inadmissible hearsay and not an acceptable method of proof because the tally sheet itself was hearsay, and thus not necessarily admissible under Washington's business records statute, RCW 5.45.020. *Id*.

Contrary to Supreme Court's decision in *Fricks*, none of Ms.

Mohony's testimony was offered to prove the contents of an inadmissible document. Indeed, the Court of Appeals determined that Ms. Mahony's testimony satisfied the requirements of RCW 5.45.020 because she declared under penalty of perjury that: (1) she was an employee or officer

of Flagstar, (2) she had personal knowledge of her employer's practice of maintaining business records, (3) she had personal knowledge from her own review of the relevant records related to Ms. Bavand's note, and (4) the supporting documents attached to her declaration were true and correct copies of documents made in the ordinary course of business at or near the time of the transaction. *See id*.

Furthermore, Ms. Mahony's declaration is indistinguishable from evidence the Court of Appeal has approved previously. For instance, in *Discover Bank v. Bridges*, Discover Bank relied on three affidavits from employees of DFS, an affiliated entity that assisted Discover Bank in collecting delinquent debts. The three affiants stated in their respective affidavits that (1) they worked for DFS, (2) that two of the affiants had access to the Bridges' account records in the course of their employment, (3) the same two affiants testified based on personal knowledge and review of those records, and (4) the attached account records were true and correct copies made in the ordinary course of business. *Discover Bank*, 154 Wn. App. at 726. Division II of the Court of Appeals rejected the Bridges' contention that the trial court improperly admitted the affidavits into evidence. *Id.* And in *Barkley*, Division One just last month rejected the same arguments, for the same reasons. *Barkley*, --- Wn. App. ---, 2015 WL 473015, at \*3-\*4.

Similar to *Barkley* and *Discover Bank*, Ms. Mahony stated in her declaration that she has personal knowledge of and access to Ms. Bavand's

loan documents. Moreover, Ms. Mahony states she personally reviewed those records. CP 1499 ¶ 3. She has personal knowledge of how Flagstar's business records were "ma[d]e, collect[ed], and maintain[ed] ... and how each "document attached to [her] declaration was retrieved." *Id.* While Ms. Mahony does not expressly state she was a custodian of the records, neither did the affiants in *Discover Bank*. Thus, the Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or with another appellate decision.

# 2. The Declaration of Tim Stephenson was Correctly Excluded from Evidence.

Ms. Bavand's Petition for Review argues that review should be granted to determine whether the trial court's striking of Ms. Bavand's proffered expert, Tim Stephenson, was proper. Pet. at 14. Conspicuously absent from the Petition for Review, however, are any arguments showing that the trial court's striking of the Stephenson Declaration conflicts with a decision of the Supreme Court under RAP 13.4(b)(1). As a result, review should be denied.

As the Court of Appeals correctly determined, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in striking the Stephenson Declaration determining that it "contains almost entirely impermissible legal conclusions, is not helpful in resolving the claims alleged in the Complaint, offers no admissible evidence refuting Chase's evidence that it holds Plaintiff's Promissory Note, and is inadmissible under ER 702." *See* Opinion at 8; *see also State v. Clausing*, 147 Wn.2d 620, 628 (2002) ("Each courtroom

comes equipped with a legal expert, called a judge," and only the judge gets to decide "the relevant legal standards.") (citation and quotations omitted); *Orion Corp. v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 441, 461 (1985) ("Experts are not to state opinions of law."); ER 704 cmt. ("experts are not to state opinions of law or mixed fact and law"); *Ebel v. Fairwood Park II Homeowners 'Ass'n*, 136 Wn. App. 787, 791-92 (2007) ("Courts will not consider legal conclusions in a motion for summary judgment.")

Therefore, because the trial court determined that entirety of the Stephenson Declaration consisted of legal conclusions, the trial court did not abuse its discretion to disregard it.

# B. This Court Should Not Review the Court of Appeals' Decision Regarding Petitioner's Continuance Request.

Without explaining how her request for a continuance involves an issue of substantial public importance justifying review under RAP 13.4(b)(4), Ms. Bavand's Petition for Review argues that the Supreme Court should review the trial court's denial of her request for a continuance of the summary judgment hearing.

In reviewing the trial court's denial of Ms. Bavand's request for a continuance, the Court of Appeals held that: "[a] trial court may deny a motion for continuance when: (1) the requesting party does not have a good reason for the delay in obtaining the evidence, (2) the requesting party does not indicate what evidence would be established by further discovery, or (3) the new evidence would not raise a genuine issue of

fact." Qwest Corp. v. City of Bellevue, 161 Wn.2d 353, 369 (2007) (quoting Butler v. Joy, 116 Wn. App. 291, 299 (2003)).

Because Ms. Bavand failed to file any motion or affidavit providing a good reason for her delay in obtaining the evidence desired, the Court of Appeals determined that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying her request. Opinion at 16. *See also Barkley* --- Wn. App. ---, 2015 WL 4730175, \*5-\*6 (rejecting the same argument by the same lawyer).

#### V. CONCLUSION

For these reasons, Flagstar requests the Court deny review.